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--- Upon commencing at 9:32 a.m.

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1
MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

     Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in the matter of application EB-2007-0680, pursuant to Section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, submitted by Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited.  The application is seeking approval for charges to the rates Toronto Hydro charges for electricity distribution, to be effective May 1, 2008.

     Last week, parties met to develop an Issues List for this proceeding.  The Board sits today to consider the Issues List and to hear submissions on the contested Issues.


The Board will also hear submissions on the substance of the threshold question, which is:  Should the Board proceed with reviewing the applicant's proposal for a multi-year test period?

     My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be Presiding Member in this hearing.  Joining me on the Panel are Board Members Mr. Paul Vlahos and Mr. David Balsillie.

     May I have appearances, please?


APPEARANCES:
     MR. RODGER:  Morning, Madam Chair.  Mark Rodger, appearing as counsel to Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited.  And with me today are Mr. Glenn Winn, Mr. Pankaj

Sardana, and Mr. Colin McClorg.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.


MR. ALEXANDER:  Good morning.  Basil Alexander, counsel for Pollution Probe.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Alexander.

     MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for Consumers Council of Canada.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, John DeVellis for School Energy Coalition.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

     MS. LEA:  Jennifer Lea, appearing for Board Staff.  Christie Clark is with me.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Is that everyone?  Thank you.

     In a moment I'll ask Toronto Hydro to present the Issues List.  Following that, we'll begin with submissions on Issue 1.1, the threshold questions, followed by submissions on the contested Issues.

     Before we turn to the Issues List, do we have any preliminary matters?  Mr. Rodger.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just one preliminary matter, and this is something that I alerted the intervenors and Board Staff to when we met recently on the Issues Day.

     What Toronto Hydro would like to do in this proceeding -- we think it will be helpful and informative for the Board and for parties -- is to arrange a tour of certain Hydro One facilities and infrastructure.

     This would be -- we anticipate it being an entire-day event, and it's open to anybody that wants to participate:  Board Members, Board Staff, intervenors, or their counsel.

     And what I have asked Toronto Hydro to do -- and one page has been handed out, and I have extra copies for my friends -- I'm sorry, Ms. Girvan kindly reminds me that I may have made reference to Hydro One.  Toronto Hydro.  We can do the Hydro One tour another day.

     In any event, Toronto Hydro has -- what we thought, to move this forward, is Toronto Hydro has put forward this list of various assets and infrastructure.  And the idea would be that we want this to be for information purposes; and to be most useful to the Board and parties, we thought we would break down the infrastructure and assets into various categories, and perhaps Board and intervenors and Board Staff could tell us if there are particular areas of the system that you would like to see.

     We would take that information from you and, probably in the early part of November, when the weather is still supportive, organize this event.  Again, we strictly think for informational purposes this will be helpful, particularly given the nature of the application.


So we would ask parties to consider this list and perhaps to fax or e-mail me, and we will arrange something and let people know.  Hopefully in the next couple of weeks we can sort out a date.  We'll work with the Board Staff about people's availability and organize that for next month.

     So that was the one preliminary matter, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thanks, Mr. Rodger.


I'd like to ask intervenors if they have any thoughts on the appropriateness of the Panel attending a day like this.

Mr. Warren?

     MR. WARREN:  We have some threshold concerns, Madam Chair.  Typically, or characteristically, taking a view in a matter, in a trial, for example, where you've got an accident scene, you've got one accident scene.  There's no choice over which one you look at.  There's no discretion involved in selecting a good accident scene, as opposed to a bad accident scene.

     In this circumstance, Toronto Hydro would be, I'm sure, inclined to take a view of the -- first of all, Toronto Hydro gets to select what you look at.  And the concern we would have is that we're looking at, for example, capital -- areas where capital improvements are dramatically needed, as opposed to those where, in the ordinary course, you might not need improvements for years.

     We're not in a position to make any valuation of what's the appropriateness of looking at one area as opposed to another, and we say with respect that the Board isn't either.


So we have some concerns that this is unnecessary in the circumstances.  It doesn't add anything to the evidence, anything to the persuasive value of the evidence.  And there is the risk of prejudice, which there is simply no way of correcting, because there's no counter-balancing view.

     This is not the kind of circumstance that typically a Court would say, "We need -- it would help us enhance our understanding of the evidence to take a view."  So we would be opposed to the idea.  Thanks.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  We agree with Mr. Warren.  

We appreciate that the company's efforts are -- may have good intentions in doing what they're doing, but we agree with Mr. Warren's concerns that it may prejudice the Panel.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  If we were to have such a day, would either you or Mr. Warren, or your clients, be interested in attending, if we determined that we were going to do it in any case?  And you can give us your own comments on what we would see.

     MR. WARREN:  Well, I'd have to reserve the question of whether this was an appropriate sign for Ms. Girvan or for me.  But certainly I think it would be necessary with respect to our clients' interest to have some representative of the client present.  But our being present doesn't really help all that much, because it doesn't help us to decide whether this is an appropriate thing to look at or an inappropriate thing to look at, or whether, more importantly, this is a representative scene or circumstance that we're looking at.

     So having us present really doesn't effectively address the concerns which I have expressed.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Any other comments?  I'll come back to you, Mr. Rodger.


Mr. DeVellis -- Mr. Buonaguro, sorry.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  If there was a viewing, I'd go for my own interest, and to put some physical interaction with the assets that we're talking about in my own mind.  The problem, I think, which I agree with -- it is, and I agree with Mr. Warren, particularly if the Board were to come see it -- is this supposed to be evidence in this hearing?  The fact of having gone to see it, is it somehow translated into evidence that's supposed to be persuasive one way or the other?  And I don't think -- I can't imagine that there is an appropriate way of translating it.


The evidence in the hearing is still going to be what the Panel says and what the reports say and what we get out of them in cross-examination IRs.


So, on a personal level, it would be helpful.  But in terms of its direct involvement in the hearing, I can't see it working appropriately.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Rodger.

     MS. LEA:  Madam Chair, I have a couple of comments as well, if --

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Ms. Lea.  Why don't you go ahead, Ms. Lea, before Mr. Rodger?

     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And then Mr. Rodger can reply to them if he chooses.

     Madam Chair, it is my view that the benefit to be gained by educating ourselves here probably outweighs the possible prejudice that my friends are enumerating.


I hear what they're saying.  Toronto Hydro does get to choose the sites.  But I think that we can make it very clear to the applicant that this is not supposed to be a trip about advocacy.  This is supposed to be a trip about education.


You are an expert tribunal.  In my view, education which would assist you in gaining and maintaining that expertise is valuable, and I think that looking at the physical infrastructure of a major urban utility would be an educational experience.

     I have faith that this Panel will understand that what it sees is not evidence.  In my view, it's not the same as taking a view in the court case, where you are to draw conclusions from what you see.  As I understand the proposal, it's supposed to be educational merely, and I also have faith that this Panel is able to disabuse its mind of any possible selectivity on the part of Toronto Hydro, and I'm not presuming there is any.

     So I would suggest to you that the educational benefits of this, certainly for myself, and possibly for the Panel, might be enough to outweigh the prejudice, as long as you, the Panel, keep in mind that this trip is about education, and certainly not about advocacy or about evidence in this hearing.

     Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

Mr. Rodger.

     MR. RODGER:  I think Ms. Lea has captured it very it very well.  I understand the concerns about this tour being turned into an exercise in advocacy, but that is not the purpose; it is for education.  And we, Toronto, thought that it would be particularly important, given the nature of this case, which I will be talking about later this morning.  That's part of the reason why we put forward the list of infrastructure, to let the parties decide what is in the most interest of them, as opposed to us saying here is a list of four or five different things.  So we're very sensitive to that.

     I would also add that these site visits or tours are not unique.  I can remember under the old demand/supply plan hearing we did tours all over the province, and we saw all kinds of different infrastructure.  And again, it was for educational purposes, and that put the whole demand/supply plan in a context.  And that was the driver here, to put this application, this multi-year application, in a context and to educate everyone, if you like, put some meaning around the words.  And that might be helpful as we go through this exercise.

     Those would be my submissions, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Rodger, you mentioned in the context of the multi-year application, should the Board be inclined not to have a multi-year review, then would your invitation still apply?

     MR. RODGER:  I think it would still apply whether it was one year, two years or five years.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  And thank you for the invitation.  We'll consider it and let you know.

     Mr. Rodger, are you ready to present the Issues List?

     MR. RODGER:  Yes, Madam Chair.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:

     MR. RODGER:  Everyone should have a copy of the Issues List that I circulated to the Board and parties on September 26, 2007.  We started with the intervenors on some initial lists that Board Staff had kindly developed, and the agreed-on Issues, uncontested Issues, you see laid out in the materials before you.

     There was some discussion, I should add.  We did raise the fact that -- we know that the Board, in an ideal world, would like to have as specific Issues as possible.  And we had a little discussion about that.  But the feeling was that it is very difficult to try and get specificity before the interrogatories are answered.

     So, while these Issues may come across as more of topics in some cases, it really was, we felt, probably the best that we could do.

     So you have Issue 2, operating costs; Issue 3, operating reserve, operating revenue; Issue 4, taxes;

Issue 5, rate base; Issue 6, cost of capital and rate of return; Issue 7, load forecast; Issue 8, cost allocation and rate design; Issue 9, CDM; Issue 10, Smart Meters;  

Issue 11, deferral on variance accounts; and Issue 12, rate implementation.

     There are sub-issues within each of those categories 

I've just described, but again, fairly broad, and the applicant thinks that that's appropriate for this case.

     We do have the threshold issue, which we will speak to shortly, and as you also noted, there are three contested Issues which we will speak to late this morning.

     We would put forward this list to you, 

Madam Chair, as appropriate for this proceeding.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

     We had one question.  Just for clarification, so we understand the Issue, and I don't know whether you want to address it or if there was a proponent of the issue who wants to address it.  And that is Issue 10.2, on Smart 

Meters.

     We didn't quite understand the purpose or the context of that Issue.

     MR. RODGER:  That Issue specifically, I believe, was Mr. Warren's client.  And perhaps it might be better if he spoke to that.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.

     MR. WARREN:  I will.  Thank you, Mr. Rodger, for waking me up.

     There has been some discussion on this Issue, and I acknowledge that there is some confusion as to precisely what we're driving at.  But our concern is what are the methods by which Smart Meter costs will be recovered in rates. And that's a different question than a question of whether or not CDM expenditures are appropriate -- I apologize -- Smart Meters spending is appropriate, whether the levels are appropriate.  The way you're spending, that's a different question.  Once the decision has been taken that you're going to spend a certain amount on Smart Meters, the question is, what's the appropriate way to recover the costs?

     We think that that's an Issue that needs to be explored, at least to the extent of being allowed to ask interrogatories about it.  It may be that having asked interrogatories and receiving the answers, it won't be an Issue that will be argued in the hearing itself, but at this stage we would like the opportunity to at least ask interrogatory questions about it.  And that's really the reasons that we've asked that it be put on the Issues List.

     As Ms. Girvan points out, it's particularly important if what we're looking at in the hearing is a longer-term period, longer than one year or two years or even up to three years.  A question of how you recover those costs over a longer period of time becomes more difficult, becomes more problematic.

     So the question really is:  If the purpose of an Issues List in the first place is to allow people to ask questions in interrogatories, and the answers may result in it not being an Issue in the hearing, but at this stage we'd like the opportunity to ask questions.

     That's the reason that we've asked it to be put on the Issues List.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Is there evidence in the application to this point?

     MR. WARREN:  There isn't, and that's the difficulty that we have.  We wanted to elicit information from Toronto 

Hydro on this point, which is, again, one of the reasons that we wanted it on the Issues List.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So there is not a methodology proposed by the applicant, Mr. Warren?

     MR. WARREN:  There's a methodology, Mr. Vlahos, but it isn't clear to us what the implications of the methodology would be, particularly over a three-year period.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Those are the only questions we have on the settled Issues.

     We can go ahead now with the submissions on the threshold issue.  The order that we're going to take submissions on that, or that I would propose we take submissions -- and I'll take your comments if you don't agree -- is that Board Staff will lead because they have a number of questions that they're hoping the other parties can address, followed by Toronto Hydro, then the supporting parties to Toronto Hydro's position, and then the opposing parties.

     If that's satisfactory to everyone, Ms. Lea, are you ready to make your submissions?

     MS. LEA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And just one note:  

I'm presuming that Toronto Hydro would have a right of reply to the opposing submissions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Of course.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. LEA:

     MS. LEA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Board Staff does have some questions and concerns it wants to raise with the proposal.  The Board has several initiatives underway that are attempting to increase consistency of approach for rate setting for electricity contribution utilities in general.  And Toronto Hydro is seeking to depart from the Board's plan for rate setting.  Staff submits that there are two questions that the Board should consider in determining whether to hear the evidence for cost-of-service rate setting for 2009 and 2010 at this time, in this case.

     The first of those is:  Does the Board continue to see benefit on a consistent rate setting approach for distribution utilities across the province.  And more specifically for this case, if an individual distributor is to be permitted to depart from the standard plan, what are the specific factors and circumstances that make Toronto Hydro a good candidate for departure?

     With respect to the first question, then, there are three key initiatives enunciated in the Board's business plan and that are presently underway that may be very relevant to rate setting.  The first of these is the policy  process to determine a third-generation IRM plan.  The Board has set out its plan for rate setting for electricity distributors for the next three years.

The Board indicated that utilities would be divided into three groups.  The 2008 rebasing group, to which Toronto Hydro belongs, was to file a cost-of-service application for 2008 rates, and then have their rates adjusted in 2009 and 2010, using the third-generation incentive mechanism.  So there is a policy process underway to establish this incentive mechanism for a third-generation IRM.

     The second initiative is an asset condition assessment.  I think that the idea there is to move towards best practices or a consistent approach to asset management among utilities.

     And the outcome of this process could have a material effect on a distributor's capital plan.  And Toronto Hydro has put forward a multi-year capital plan for consideration in this case.

     Thirdly, there is an initiative to begin to use cost comparisons between utilities.  The development of a cost comparison could have a material effect on the scope of the rate-setting process for distributors in the future.  So all of these policy initiatives may be important in setting electricity distribution rates going forward.

     The Board's planning appears to be directed towards the goal of coherence and consistency in the regulation of Ontario's electricity distribution sector.  And the contested last Issue on the List, the contested Issue that Schools has put forward, does suggest that there is some desire among stakeholders to achieve comparability among distributors, compare them to each other.

     So Staff would ask parties and the Board to consider, is there a benefit in a consistent rate-setting approach for distributors across the province?


There may be disadvantages to inconsistency, we would suggest.  For example, is it unfair to ratepayers in the province to have different utilities on different rate-setting mechanisms?  Why should the approach to setting rates vary for ratepayers, depending on the service territory?  Will the rates of ratepayers of Toronto Hydro be disadvantaged if Toronto Hydro's rates are set before we have the benefit of the results of these three initiatives that I mentioned to you?

     I would invite Toronto Hydro to outline the harm that will result if the Board declines to hear the evidence related to 2009 and 2010 at this time.  If the Board declined to hear this evidence, Toronto Hydro could wait for the results of the third-generation IRM policy process.


Toronto Hydro is a participant in that process, I understand, and can presumably attempt to influence the outcome of that process to ensure that the resulting adjustment mechanism meets their needs, and if the mechanism does not meet their needs, Toronto Hydro or any distributor always has the option of applying for 2009 rates on a cost-of-service basis.

     And I'd ask, is the only harm there loss of regulatory efficiency?  We don't know yet what the result of the third-generation IRM policy process will be, and in our submission it is premature to speculate.  The result of the policy process might in fact turn out to be more beneficial to the applicant than the result Toronto Hydro will obtain if the Board hears three years of cost-of-service evidence.

     It's possible that the Applicant might want to reapply once the results of the policy processes are known.  So there is a risk of an application next year either way, in our submission.

     If Toronto Hydro does have to come back in 2009, that proceeding will be better informed by knowing the results, in my view, of these various alternatives -- various initiatives, pardon me.

     Staff would also ask the applicant and other parties to address whether this application for 2009 and 2010 rates is premature, given that the results of these policy processes are not yet known.


And I want to be clear about this.  I am not saying that the Board should decline to set rates for Toronto Hydro for 2009 or 2010 based on cost-of-service evidence.  I'm not suggesting that they shouldn't do that at all.  I'm asking whether they should do it now.

     I don't see a legal issue arising here.  We are not denying -- or I am not arguing -- that the Board should consider denying setting rates on a cost-of-service basis for 2009 and 2010 for Toronto Hydro.

     I'm asking whether the Board should decline to do so now, as seeking a rate order at this time for 2009 and 2010 could be considered premature.

     Turning to the second question, the specifics regarding Toronto Hydro:  What are the specific factors and circumstances that would persuade the Board that it should set rates on a cost-of-service basis for three years now for Toronto Hydro?

     Board Staff understands that the issue of capital investment is an important one for Toronto Hydro, but it appears that Toronto Hydro is not the only distributor with serious concerns about capital investment, and how that will be treated in the third-generation IRM plan.


As you are aware, there are a number of distributors applying for cost-of-service rate-setting in -- for 2008, right now.  We've received the application of Ottawa Hydro, and that rates application has proposed a capital adjustment mechanism.

     Hydro 2000, a small utility in eastern Ontario, has asked for what they describe as a deferral account for capital expenditures for 2009 and 2010.  So obviously other distributors are concerned about capital treatment.

     How many treatments of capital spending does the Board want to approve?  And to what degree should the Board allow variation in rate-setting practices across the province on this issue?

     Turning to the other side of the coin, as my friends will probably enumerate for you, there are points to consider in favour of hearing and considering the cost-of-service evidence for 2009 and 2010.


Cost-of-service evidence for a particular distributor should be more reflective of the actual circumstances of that particular distributor than a one-size-fits-all IRM formula.  Cost-of-service evidence will be more rigorously tested and should provide a better estimator of the future cost of a particular distributor than a general IRM formula.  Also, IRM formulae are perhaps most useful in a period of cost stability for a distributor.

     The evidence in this application is that Toronto Hydro is not in a period of cost stability.  However, that fact cuts both ways.  It also suggests that forward test-year 

cost-of-service evidence may not be particularly reliable now, because forecasting is perhaps the least reliable, at a time when a large increase in capital spending is contemplated.

     Another point in favour of hearing the evidence now is that there is a real public interest in facilitating appropriate infrastructure investment by electricity distributors.  Increased certainty around rates could be a factor in encouraging appropriate investment by Toronto 

Hydro.

     So, in our view, the Board will have to consider whether the possible advantages of specificity, certainty, and any others outlined by my friends outweigh the desirability of a consistent rate-setting approach for distribution utilities across the province.

     It is true also that our filing Guidelines encourage applicants to take responsibility for their own rate applications and bring forward the application that, in the distributor's opinion, best suits their circumstances.  Toronto Hydro has, no doubt, done this.

     However, what is proposed appears inconsistent with the Board's plan for rate-setting, and there are certain regulatory goals that may be compromised if the Board permits Toronto Hydro to deviate from the Board's plan.

     It is Staff's submission that if the Board permits a departure from its plan, there should be clear reasons for that departure.  If the Board chooses to hear the evidence for 2009 and 2010 rates in this case, it will be of assistance to all stakeholders, we submit, if the Board detailed the circumstances in Toronto Hydro's case that justified a different approach for this distributor.

     Also, if the Board chooses not to hear the proposed evidence for 2009 and 2010, reasons for that decision will also provide stakeholders with valuable guidance.

     So we would ask you to consider this carefully and provide us with some guidance on this question that assists us in understanding the basis for the decision with respect to this particular applicant.


Thank you.  Those are my submissions, subject to questions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.


Mr. Rodger?

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:
     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I'd like to explore four themes in addressing this threshold issue that's before the Board this morning.

     The first is the question that Ms. Lea posed, and that really is, should the Board proceed on the basis that every LDC in Ontario must be bound to follow the OEB's rate plan, as Ms. Lea described, rebasing and IRM, and our answer to that is "no".


The plan and the filing Guidelines that support the plan are meant to provide a practical approach for the Board, and for the sector, in attempting to manage 90 or so LDC rate applications over the next three years.

     But there is no absolute or mandatory adherence to the plan.  That was never intended, that was never articulated, and it shouldn't be so determined now.

     This Board must always maintain its flexibility to ensure its public-interest mandate is met.  Also, the Board must uphold the fundamental tenet of the regulatory compact, which is that applicants are entitled to make the application of their choice.  So that's the first theme.

     Secondly, we think you do have to look at Toronto Hydro's specific circumstances.  I think the Board has to acknowledge the nature of our application and the new path that Toronto Hydro is headed down.  I suggest that Toronto 

Hydro's circumstances are very different than most other 

LDCs, and they warrant an approach that Toronto Hydro has put forward, a multi-year approval.

     In particular, Toronto Hydro's historical costs simply will not track future costs.  As Ms. Lea has referenced, that generally is a key characteristic when using a simple mechanical IRM approach.  So I want to speak to Toronto Hydro's circumstances.

     Thirdly, Ms. Lea also raised the prospect that multi-year periods may result in too much forecasting uncertainty for the Board to be confident with, but my submission is that that is the expertise of this Board that managing forecasting risk is something that this Board does in every application that comes before it, and this is really a question of evidence and we'll deal with this question at the hearing.

     Finally, we believe the Board must make a determination of this threshold issue now, or in the next few days, that it's not an issue to be left for the hearing.  We think this does have to be settled now, before we move to the next parts of this process.

     So those are the four themes.

     So, returning to the first one, should every LDC be bound by the OEB's rate plan?

     Our view is that this was not intended to be, nor is it, binding policy.  It's a practical approach that the Board has put in place, which should cover the vast majority of LDCs.  However, the public interest is not served by having this plan being simply applied blindly across the sector without exception.

     The plan and the filing guidelines that support the plan provide this framework, and there is nothing in the documentation that suggests in any ways that the plan is  mandatory or binding, or the only approach that can be taken without exception.

     As Ms. Lea had stated, when the discussions about 

rebasing followed by IRM were reviewed, the assumption was that you can do a simple mechanical adjustment because those utilities are more or less in a steady state, that you have historical costs that track future costs, and that allows this mechanism to occur.  But in Toronto's case, as you will hear later in my submissions, that is just not the case, where you have sustained major capital programs with year-over-year changes in rate base that are required to support that investment.

     Now, yesterday I sent around to the Board and all parties some Board documents.  I'd like to refer briefly to the Ontario Energy Board's filing requirements for transmission and distribution applications.

     These were the Guidelines that were sent out November 14th, 2006.

     MS. LEA:  Madam Chair, do you have a copy of those handy?

     MS. NOWINA:  I do not have a copy.

     MS. LEA:  I think I can provide those.  Give me a moment, Madam Chair.

     MR. RODGER:  I just want to refer, once the Board gets it, to chapter 1, to page 5 of these filing Guidelines.

     MS. LEA:  This is the document you are speaking of?

     MR. RODGER:  Yes, it is.  Thank you, Ms. Lea.

     MS. LEA:  There are a few penciled notes.  Please ignore them.  I only have the one.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rodger, do you have other hard copies?

     MR. RODGER:  I'm sorry, I didn't.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Gibbons will let us have his.  Thank you.

     MS. LEA:  And Mr. Alexander also.  I think Mr. Vlahos has one.

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

     MS. LEA:  Yes, they were sent only in electronic form to you, possibly.  Okay.  Here are the pages that may be relevant.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. RODGER:  Page 5 is chapter 1 of the overview.  

And you'll see at the very top, Madam Chair, in the bolded paragraph:  I'd just like to read that section.  It reads:

"This document provides information about the filing requirements for electricity transmission and distribution applications.  It is designed to provide direction to applicants, and it is expected that the applicants will comply with the filing requirements, unless such compliance is not practical or in the public's interest.  It is not a statutory regulation or a rule or code issued under the Board's authority.  It does not pre-empt the Board's discretion to make any order or directive as it determines necessary concerning any of the matters raised by the applications filed."

     Quite rightly, the Board has said it's not going to be bound by these Guidelines, and our view is the same caveat applies to the plan itself.

     If you go further down page 5, Madam Chair, to the last paragraph, this paragraph refers to the paragraph above, which is the idea of utilizing a forward test year.  

The final paragraph reads:

"This requirement" -- that is, the forward test year requirement –- "is to be used when an electricity transmitter or distributor is seeking the Board's approval for rebasing its rates.  Distributors will be asked to seek those rebased rates over a staggered period, guided by the Board's multi-year electricity rate setting plan."

     I emphasized the words "distributors will be asked to seek rebased rates," not, "distributors will be required to."  And further, distributors will be "guided by the 

Board's multi-year plan," not "distributors must comply" with the plan because it's somehow a binding policy of the Board.

     So, in our view, the plan is a reasonable and workable practical framework to get through 90 applications in the next three years.  And it was entirely appropriate for consistency reasons and otherwise why the Board would want to manage it in this way, but it does not make this a box within which everybody in the sector has to work.

     Also, I think a critical point, which Ms. Lea also identified, is that Toronto Hydro, like any distributor in this province, has the right to bring the rate application of its choice.  The fundamental principle of the regulatory model which the Board operates under, in our view, is that applicants bring applications that they alone believe are appropriate, and the Board's policy or plan, in our view, does nothing to change this fundamental principle.

     Toronto Hydro has to have the opportunity to earn a reasonable return, and it will need efficient access to the capital that will fund this program that's before the 

Board.  But for the Board to at this time, now, at the outset and before the hearing even gets underway, to determine that it's not even going to consider 

Toronto Hydro's application, I think that would be quite a shock to everyone, including the capital markets.  That result would be a fundamental change, in our view, in the accepted way the Board conducts its process.

     Now, the second theme I mentioned, Toronto Hydro's specific circumstances:  We think you do have to consider the nature of the application and the new path that the utility is heading down, and that the circumstances that 

Toronto Hydro faces warrant the approach that we've put forward.

     Now every application, Madam Chair, that comes before this Board has a central theme.  And I would describe the application of Toronto Hydro that was before you in this  case, it can be described as "Toronto Hydro at the crossroads".

     Now, Toronto Hydro is at the crossroads in three critical ways:  1, major LDC infrastructure renewal; 2, major workforce challenge challenges; and 3, a multi-year implementation plan to deal with the situation.

     Let me take each of these in turn.  First, major  infrastructure renewal.  At Toronto Hydro's last rate case, you heard evidence from the time of the restructuring onward.  You heard about the six former municipal electrical utilities that came together through amalgamation to create one utility.  The business changes that went on, system integrations, the cost cutting, and the ratepayers, as Toronto Hydro called it, received a restructuring dividend in the form of rate reductions at the last hearing.

     There was also evidence that there was significant capital spending going to be required.  And what this application that's before you now -- it really is reflective of what's happening more broadly across many other sectors in our economy, the need for essential infrastructure renewal, and whether we're talking about schools, transportation, health care, water/wastewater, perhaps infrastructure renewal is shaping up to be the challenge of our generation.

     What Toronto Hydro is trying to do in this application is take a comprehensive, a proactive plan that begins to tackle the very challenging reliability and infrastructure issues faced by this utility.

     It's a capital program that is very diffuse.  We are not talking about one isolated part of the system within one geographic area within the City of Toronto.  This plan is broad and covers the entire franchise area.

     Toronto Hydro's plan involves $3-billion in capital spending that will extend out at least one decade.  In the 2006 EDR application, Toronto Hydro's capital spending was around 160 million.  For each of the three forward test years that we seek approval on, Toronto Hydro intends to invest approximately $300-million per year.


And an annual rebasing to accommodate this, Toronto Hydro believes, is absolutely crucial, which will not be met by a simple mechanistic IRM mechanism, which was the premise, if you like, of the plan.

     So, put simply, Toronto Hydro will not be able to sustain this extended period of rate-based growth without the necessary rate adjustments.  And we support Ms. Lee's view that it is squarely in the public's interest to facilitate this type of infrastructural renewal.  The time has come where Toronto Hydro has to confront the challenges and move forward with them.  So certainty is key.

     Without certainty there will be no comfort that management can take to make the much-needed investments.  And that is not only for Toronto Hydro's management making this call, but we believe also for the capital markets, to 

which Toronto Hydro will have to look to finance this exercise.


So it believes that also, in terms of financing, that it will achieve better rates and pricing from the market if we have this kind of certainty over the three-year period.

     Now, the second factor I mentioned was major workforce challenges.  This program of infrastructure renewal, Madam Chair, is also occurring in the context of an unprecedented wave of expected retirements within its ranks that comprise the baby-boomer generation.


Toronto Hydro estimates that a potential turnover of staff of 50 percent, or one half of its entire unionized workers, will occur within the next decade.  Over the next three years alone, Toronto Hydro will be hiring about 150 new people.


And you can imagine and appreciate that this is not a situation where you simply go to a hiring hall for this type of recruitment.  This requires a significant and sustained hiring, training, and knowledge-transfer strategy to organize and manage this daunting reality that the utility faces.

     You will recall, Madam Chair, from the last Toronto Hydro rate case, when we talked about the amalgamation of the six former MEUs to create Toronto Hydro, that each former utility has its own specific characteristics, whether you're in Scarborough or the old North York or Etobicoke.  And the workforce -- and the new workforce at Toronto Hydro has to be able to deal with those different types of infrastructure around the city.


So the training takes considerable time and effort in order to accomplish these goals.  You're not training for a single network, you're training for multiple systems.

     So I would suggest that the magnitude of the hiring, and the retirements, and the nature of the Toronto Hydro system, that also makes Toronto Hydro different.

     Now, thirdly, the multi-year implementation strategy to deal with this:  Toronto Hydro has a plan to face these many challenges, and that's laid out in their application.  And the idea that there is a longer horizon, that is critical for Toronto Hydro to successfully implement its plan.


You can think of this plan, multi-year plan, as a bit of a complex puzzle.  A lot of parts need to fit together, they need to mesh together, to be successful in implementation.


And Toronto is unique, and it does have inherent practical realities around implementation.  Toronto Hydro serves the largest city and the financial capital of Canada.  It operates a system where reliability is paramount, where work is done in a very congested and difficult workspace.  You add to that increasing traffic congestion, difficulties with underground infrastructure.  It takes very careful planning to execute this over a period of time.

     In addition, there is considerable coordination work between Toronto Hydro and other agencies to make this effective, whether we're talking about the City of Toronto and their planning processes, or for Metro roads.  And the utility's view is that a multi-year approval puts certainty around all of that, that they can begin to move forward and implement that with the difficulties that they face.

     Toronto Hydro's application brings complete evidence in context of this larger plan.  It's a transparent approach that allows the Board and stakeholders to assess long-term goals and the plan in an efficient manner, and it affords Toronto Hydro the certainty that management needs to execute.  We believe it's an appropriate balance of the needs for confidence and risk mitigation, together with regulatory efficiency.

     Now, there are some other factors that we would ask the Board to take into account when considering this threshold issue.  And one is that we do believe the approach should be permitted, because it will save significant regulatory costs.


I have said that the capital plan is going to run at least one decade.  The public interest will not be served, with respect, with the prospect of Toronto Hydro, the Board, the intervenors, having to go through an annual cost-of-service hearing every year for the next decade.

     The application that you have before you, that took essentially one year for Toronto Hydro to complete.  It represents a huge effort, and not one that could reasonably be sustained on even an annual basis.


Toronto Hydro essentially began to prepare this application that was filed on August 2nd of this year about one week after the last rate case ended at the end of January.

     So the multi-year test years, it's a reasonable balance to have a complete hearing now, allow us to manage our risk, and in any event, we would be back before the Board roughly three years from now for rebasing for 2011.  So we think, in the circumstances, it's a reasonable request.

     And I would also add that we've seen multi-year test years approved before by the Board.  Just a few months back, we were involved in the Hydro One Transmission case, and in that case the Board approved a multi-year test period, two years, to be exact.

     So there is, we suggest, a precedent, quite rightly, for the Board to be flexible, for the applications that come before it, and not just to consider one approach.

     Now, the third theme, and Ms. Lea touched on this, was the idea of, multi-year test periods will result in too much forecasting uncertainty.  And Toronto Hydro does not believe there is undue forecasting risk.


As I said at the outset, judging forecasting risk is really at the core of what this Board does every day.  It's a central issue that the Board faces on every cost-of-service application.


The Board manages forecasting risks by approving fixed budgets for utilities.  Just and reasonable rates are always set based on these budgets to cover future periods, and the OEB is skilled in assessing whether forecasts are reasonable.  Once the budget is set, well, then the risk is on Toronto Hydro.  It has to work within that budget.

     We think that this is really a question; it's a matter of evidence.  At the end of day, after you have heard the whole case, are you satisfied that we've given you the assurances and the evidence to support the three-year rate order?


But we don't believe it's appropriate for you to determine this Issue today.  We think you should hear the hearing, and that's a matter of evidence that we can deal with in the hearing.

     But the bottom line, in our view, is that the Board mitigates forecasting risk inherent in every application by approving the budget that the Board is comfortable with, based on the evidence that's before it.

     Finally, Madam Chair, we do seek a determination on this Issue at this time, as opposed to the threshold issue being left for the hearing.  It will obviously impact the evidence that is brought forward, interrogatories, et cetera.


So I think it's kind of well understood amongst the parties that this is our expectation, but I just wanted to confirm that, that we do want a determination of this threshold issue as soon as possible.

     And those are my submissions, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.


I can reassure you on the last point.  We do plan to make a determination at the same time as we issue the Issues List, so within the next few days, hopefully.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Vlahos?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Rodger, just one question at this point, and a lot of your submissions went towards the capital budget end of things.  You haven't spoken much about the other components that make up the revenue requirement, and the need to do a three-year cost-of-service.

     MR. RODGER:  Well, I think they're all related, in terms of -- you're correct, the capital plan is a significant part of this.  But it really is the whole package.  It's the IT component, the investments in that.  The whole workforce piece is a huge element.

     And so it really is the entire application, that this plan -- I'm talking perhaps more broadly -- but it’s the whole new approach that Toronto Hydro has to take to manage the issues it faces over the next ten years.  So it is everything.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Are there any parties who wish to make submissions in support of Toronto Hydro's position?  We'll get it straight before we finish.

     MS. LEA:  Madam Chair, I notice that Mr. MacIntosh is here with us now.  I don't think he put in an appearance this morning, and he may be arguing in support.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. MacIntosh, are you going to be making submissions?

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Yes, Madam Chair.  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  In support of Toronto Hydro's position, is there anyone who wants to make a submission?  Mr. MacIntosh, you are?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Pollution 

Probe will also be making submissions.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Alexander.  Mr. MacIntosh, you can go ahead.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MacINTOSH:

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Madam Chair, it is the position of Energy Probe Research Foundation that the Board Panel should hear the application of Toronto Hydro for a multi-year test period.

There are benefits to be derived from all of the local electricity distribution companies in Ontario having their rates set within a consistent methodology.  Board Counsel mentioned two: regulatory efficiency and benchmarking effectiveness.

     However, it is the position of Energy Probe that incentive regulation is most beneficial during periods of relative utility stability, and for Toronto Hydro this is not one of those stable periods.  When Toronto Hydro came before the Board to apply for their 2006 rates in 

EB-2005-0421, Energy Probe in its cross-examinations and final argument was particularly critical of the absence of a long-term capital plan.  The evidence presented by the Applicant in that proceeding never adequately explained the large and sustained investment cuts, beginning in 2001.

     However, Energy Probe supported the applicant's request for an increased capital in that proceeding, being concerned in respect of system reliability.  And in this proceeding we support the applicant's request for a cost-of-service rate-setting approach, allowing annual rebasing as it implements its long-term capital investment plan.

     We are open to its presentation, although, that said, once the evidence is tested, we may present argument for two successive test years rather than three.  And the applicant can argue for the application it has presented and can argue as to its uniqueness.

     That is not to say that Toronto Hydro is the only LDC that may be in this particular circumstance that we have described, or indeed another circumstance which does not fit comfortably within the Board's IRM formula.  Energy Probe submits that, with the Board's direction, those LDCs can move toward less uniqueness within an IRM regime over time.

Those are my submissions, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  Mr. Alexander.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ALEXANDER:

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  In principle, 

Pollution Probe is supportive of multi-year rate applications and the Board proceeding to review the Toronto Hydro proposal for a multi-year test period.  We are particularly supportive since it will reduce regulatory costs, and it will also provide the utilities with a longer planning horizon.

     However, that support comes with a caveat, and a very important caveat.  The onus of proof remains with Toronto 

Hydro, and Toronto Hydro ultimately has to prove its case.

     If I could use as an illustration some of the issues that are of interest to Pollution Probe, I distributed yesterday to the parties a copy of the Pollution Probe document book that I intend to use today, electronically, and I believe Board Staff has a copy for the Board.  I would suggest that it's appropriate that we mark it as an exhibit for reference purposes.

     MS. NOWINA:  Let's do that.

     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. Alexander, this isn't evidence as such.  It can be marked for identification, but it's not evidence that you're seeking to call.  It's reports to the Board and letters, and so on and so forth?  



MR. ALEXANDER:  It's documents that I'm going to be referring to in the course of my submissions.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  That's fine.  We'll mark it for identification, then, as Exhibit 1, please.

EXHIBIT NO. 1:  POLLUTION PROBE DOCUMENT BOOK FOR ISSUES DAY 

MR. ALEXANDE:  If I can take you to at that Tab 5 of the Pollution Probe document book which has now been marked Exhibit 1.  And this is a copy of table 1, the summary of the capital budget, which is present in the Toronto Hydro application at Exhibit D1, Tab 7, schedule 1, at page 10.

     If you look at the three numbers at the bottom, this is essentially the amounts that my friend Mr. Rodger was getting to.  And it looks like, as Mr. Rodger indicated, that we're talking -- when you add those three numbers together, we're talking about a capital budget of $906-million, approximately.

     If I can take you to Tab 4, which is a copy of table 2, a summary of the Toronto Hydro's CDM programs, which can be found in the Toronto Hydro's prefiled evidence at Exhibit G1, Tab 1, schedule 1.

     And focussing on the programs that Toronto Hydro has put in its application with respect to the CDM, with respect to for OEB approval, when you add those three numbers over the test year, which are circled here on the copy that's in the document book, you come up to a total of $22.98 million.

     From Pollution Probe's perspective, it looks like there is going to be a very large capital budget for the three years that Toronto Hydro is going to be seeking approval for, and a very small CDM budget on the scale that we've talked about here.

     In this case, what that means, using this as an illustration of the kind of thing that Toronto Hydro ultimately has to prove before the Board, Toronto Hydro has to prove that the budget is in the public interest, that its very large capital budget is in the public interest, and that its very small CDM budget is in the public interest.  And if Toronto Hydro ultimately fails to meet that onus and that requirement, the Board should retain the right to reject the request to actually approve all three rate years and only approve one year instead.  And we may very well do that as part of our submissions at the end, depending on how the proceeding goes, how the interrogatory responses go, and how the hearing proceeds.

     What the Board should then retain is the right that they can then tell Hydro One, after they've had an opportunity to consider the evidence, "Please come back next year, but we're only approving you for one year".

     The bottom line is that the Board ultimately considering the application doesn't mean that the Board is going to give a three-year rate order at the end automatically.  Toronto Hydro still has to meet the basic onus of proving the case to justify the rate requested in all of that.  And Pollution Probe will be making arguments, and we'll be doing this through the process, and then that will be for the Board to decide at the end.

     Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Alexander.

Anyone else wish to make a submission in support of Toronto Hydro's proposal?  Mr. Warren.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, Members of the Panel.  I suppose, by way of overview, the fair way to characterize our submission, our position on this, is that it is opposed but not clearly so, or, in the alternative, opposed but muddle-headed about it.

     The test, in our respectful submission, and with great respect to my friend Ms. Lea, is not the question of whether or not this does or does not conform to policy.  We agree that regulatory consistency and regulatory efficiency are important considerations, but the first and foremost test has to be whether or not this application allows the Board to carry out its functions under the Energy Board Act.  This is not a gas application.

     And that is to set just and reasonable rates.

     And in addition to that, does it allow the Board to carry out its obligations under Section 1 of the Ontario 

Energy Board Act, which provides, and I quote:

"The Board, in carrying out its responsibilities under this or any other Act in relation to electricity, shall be guided by the following objectives.  1, to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices, and the adequacy, reliability, and quality of electricity service."

The issue before the Board is whether or not the  application which is before you, seeking the particular form of relief that it does, which is a three-year cost-of-service approval, allows the Board to do that.

     Now, at the risk of crude generalization, the interests of ratepayers are protected under an annual cost-of-service review, because it allows the Board, among other things, to test the accuracy of the forecasts that have been made in the preceding year.


If, for example, the utility, in this case Toronto Hydro, forecasts expenditures of "X" amount in capital but doesn't spend that amount, then it earns a return in excess of what it should have been able to do, in addition to which any efficiencies it would have achieved in that year would go entirely to the benefit of the shareholder if there weren't regulatory reviews, so that there is substantial value in the protection of the interests of ratepayers in those annual reviews.

     Now, there may be circumstances, of the kind that were encountered in the Hydro One case, that would extend the period from one year to two.  But when you get beyond two years, there is a substantial risk that the interests of ratepayers simply cannot be protected, because you get too far away from those forecasts, and you have no data on which to base your assessment.

     Now, by contrast, a formulaic approach, such as those adopted in an incentive regulation regime, have built into them protective mechanisms, whether in the "X" factor or in an earnings-sharing mechanism, whereby the Board can be assured within some -- within the limits of the capacity of the Board to -- and all parties to assess this -- can be assured that if there are savings, if there are efficiencies, that the interests of ratepayers will be protected, that the rates will reflect an appropriate balance.

     To the extent that the Board approves a cost-of-service regime that extends beyond three years, that becomes very difficult to do if you don't have a mechanism like an "X" factor or an earnings-sharing mechanism.

     Now, as difficult as this may be for me on occasion to do, I agree with Mr. Rodger that the approach which is suggested in the -- for the incentive regulation is not mandatory.


The discretion is, in any utility, to apply to the Board for the cost-of-service -- sorry, for the rate-making regime which it considers appropriate under the circumstances, and the onus is on the utility to approve that.  So there's no mandatory requirement.

     Now, there may be benefits, as my friend Ms. Lea has pointed out, to consistency.  But the Board should not and cannot, as a matter of law, bind itself by some policy consideration to saying that, "We will not consider an application that is not consistent with this particular policy."

     Now, there may be reasons for the adoption of a uniform methodology, but we're not there yet.  We don't have the IR regime.  And so it puts utilities in a difficult position of having to decide whether or not they want to apply for an IR regime without knowing what it's going to be.

     In our respectful submission, there are a number of questions or difficulties that are posed by this particular application in relation to this policy matter.

     There is a question of whether or not it's premature for Toronto Hydro to say that any form of incentive regulation regime that may result from the Board's considerations is not applicable or not appropriate for Toronto Hydro.  It may be.  We don't know that yet.

     There's also the question of whether or not, if the Board were to approve a three-year regime, and Toronto Hydro were suddenly to discover that it liked the IR regime that was in place, could it then have the discretion to apply next year.

     The overriding considerations, in our respectful submission, are not the question of whether or not Toronto Hydro should be compelled to wait for the outcome of the policy deliberations or they should be compelled to apply for a particular form of incentive regulation mechanism.


The issue for us is whether or not a three-year regime provides adequate protection for ratepayers.  In our respectful submission, the Board can decide now that a three-year regime is not, based on its expertise -- a three-year regime does not allow those kinds of protections.

     My friend Mr. Rodger referred to the recent decision of the Board in the Hydro One case, which the Panel will remember was an application for a two-year -- approval of a two-year regime, with what was known as a regulatory adjustment mechanism.  They sought a formula for an additional two years.


And the Issue before the Board was not whether to approve a two-year regime, but whether to approve the additional two years under this rate-making formula mechanism.

     But the Board's Decision on that Issue, in my respectful submission, has some bearing on its analysis in this case.  I'm referring to page 10 of the Decision with reasons.  The Decision was issued on August 18th of 2007.

     And I quote the Board on page 10, saying:

"Hydro One pointed out on many occasions that its transmission business today is facing significant change in its spending levels and work programs.  During the hearing, Hydro One stressed what it described as an unprecedented increase in capital expenditures driven by government directives and system growth.  Hydro One's evidence and its witnesses also referred at length to the significant increase in spending related to Hydro One's aging asset base."


The Board then said in the following paragraph, and I quote:

"Given these significant changes and uncertainties, the Board does not believe that this is the time to adopt a revenue requirement adjustment mechanism for 2009/2010.  Before setting the post-2008 revenue requirement, it will be important to examine how actual OM&A expenses and capital expenditures in 2007 and 2008 compare with Hydro One's forecasts, and to determine the reasons for any significant variations, and to test forecasts of spending in subsequent years.  That can only be accomplished through a cost-of-service proceeding."

     Now, that analysis of the importance of being able to test the forecast against actual experiences, in my respectful submission, is applicable in this case.

     Our client's position is that Toronto Hydro has the discretion to apply for the form of rate regulation it considers appropriate under the circumstances, but that the Board can decide at this stage that an approval for a three-year period is simply too long.


In our view, the appropriate period is one year, which would allow Toronto Hydro next year to make a decision as to whether or not it wants to adopt the IRM formula that the Board decides, and it would also allow in a period of very significant capital spending for the Board to test whether or not the forecasts are accurate.

     That's the most appropriate way to protect the interests of ratepayers.  Failing that, the Board, in our respectful submission, should direct Toronto Hydro that it will consider an application for approval of a two-year period only.


Those are our submissions.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Warren, just one question.  There could be safeguards in a multi-year test period.  In fact, it may go to protecting the interests of consumers.  You haven't spoken about those.


It sounds like it's pretty absolute -- pretty certain in your mind it's a three-year or a one-year.  Could it be a three-year with some protection mechanisms?

     MR. WARREN:  It can be, sir.  There can be, for example, an earnings-sharing mechanism, which is a protective mechanism which could be used.

     If I've created the impression that it's one or three years or nothing, I'm sorry for that.  I think I've said that one year seems to us the most sensible, in light of all of the other considerations, but two years is workable.


We have no threshold policy objection to multi-year rate-setting mechanisms, but there has to be a protection, and one of those protections could be an earnings-sharing mechanism, something we could explore in the course of the hearing.


I haven't put my mind to the complete laundry list of other forms of protection, but certainly an earnings-sharing mechanism is one which has been used on the gas side in a number of circumstances.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And just to be clear, that you would want the Board to make that decision of one year now, as opposed to arguing -- you arguing that the Board should make a decision after hearing the evidence?

     MR. WARREN:  No, I don't think so, sir.  I think -- and I appreciate the difficulty that puts us in, but it seems to me that the Board can, based on its analysis in the case, say that three years is simply too long, that the uncertainty of forecasting is too long.  The Board's not going to consider that.  The Board's prepared to consider the possibility of a two-year period with -- but keeping in mind that there are concerns about forecasting risk, and keeping in mind that some form of ratepayer protection may be appropriate.  But the Board can decide that now, in our respectful submission.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Other opposing parties?  Mr. DeVellis?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:
     MR. DeVELLIS:  School Energy Coalition is also opposed to the Board granting Toronto Hydro a rate order for three years at this time.


There were two major themes that I heard Mr. Rodger enunciate this morning, as to why Toronto Hydro should be considered different from other distributors, and those are the need for asset renewal and the issue of the aging workforce.

     In our view, those issues would be common to many other distributors in the province.  They're related to the fact that the infrastructure in this province developed primarily at a time of rapid population growth, so it's not surprising, for example, we may see a significant portion of Toronto Hydro's workforce retiring at the same time that a significant portion of its assets need to be retired as well.

     But those issues would be common to other distributors across the province, and Ms. Lea pointed you to two that have already come forward with similar problems, similar  issues.

     Now, in our view there are more compelling arguments as to why the application for a three-year rate order should be denied, and that is that the Board has commenced a process, a third-generation incentive regulation plan, that's designed to ensure a consistency in rate-setting going forward.  It's not only for practical reasons, as Mr. Rodger submitted this morning.  In our view, it's equally if not a more important goal, to have consistency in rate-setting among distributors across the province.

     The current Toronto Hydro application would pre-empt that process and result in Toronto Hydro ratepayers, alone among distribution customers in the province, be subjected to rates without applying any of the findings of the various processes that are underway.

     The IRM formula will, in our view, be designed to more closely align distribution rates to what would occur in a competitive market; that is, to provide all distribution companies with similar year-over-year increases with only cost pressures experienced by all distributors reflected in rates.

     The formula will hopefully be designed so that high-cost providers don't simply get their costs rolled into rates, but rather that high-cost providers either find a way to get their costs in line with other distributors or suffer a diminished rate-of-return, which is exactly what would occur in a competitive market.

     That leaves us with the procedural Issue, and that is:  How can the Board refuse to hear the applicant's application?

     In our submission, Toronto has in essence asked for three rate orders in one application: one for 2008, one for 2009, and one for 2010.  The Board has control over its own procedure and is well within its jurisdiction to say it will only be issuing an order for 2008 at this time, and defer the issue of 2009 and 2010 orders until a later date.

     Now, Mr. Rodger raised a sort of a procedural fairness issue this morning, although he didn't characterize it in that way.  And that is that the applicant has a right to present whatever application as it sees fit.  And we agree with that, and we and Mr. Warren and others say that the 

Board shouldn't be bound by the Guidelines.  But having said that, the applicant has had an opportunity to present to you today reasons as to why it should be treated differently from other distributors in the province. 

It's not, in our view, necessary to have a full-blown oral hearing with cross-examination and other evidence to demonstrate to you why it needs three rate orders in one application.  It's had that opportunity, and the Board is well within its rights, as I said, to say that it won't be looking at other years, and it will only be issuing a rate order for 2008 at this time.

     Lastly, Mr. Rodger mentioned the issue of forecasting risk, and said that forecasting risk is something that the 

Board -- is within the Board's expertise.  I agree with that; however, there's no question in our view that the longer the forecasting period, the greater the forecasting risk.

     So, for all those reasons, SEC is opposed to Toronto 

Hydro's application for a three-year rate order.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Mr. Buonaguro.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BUONAGURO:

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think we must have been wearing these buttons out very quickly over the course of the last few months.

     VECC has approached this from a procedural point of view.  We're not aware of anything that legally stands in the way of Toronto Hydro applying for a three-year rate plan in the manner that it has, and at some point the Board is going to have to consider the evidence that Toronto Hydro has put forward in support of its plan.  

The question is:  How does the Board deal with this from a procedural point of view?  Like I said, Toronto Hydro can apply for whatever it wants, but on the flip side, the Board has broad discretion as to how to receive that evidence and when to consider it, and also when to supplement that evidence.

     Under the Statute, the Board can combine or splice off any part of the proceeding with any other proceeding.  The 

Board can compel the utility to provide further evidence of a particular nature.  The Board can consider evidence and arguments from other intervenors, in particular on alternate methods of setting rates.  And these are all things that need to be considered in the context of this motion -- or in terms of this threshold issue.

     In this particular case, I think I agree with Mr. DeVellis that what we have here is one application, which applies for three separate rates.  We have the 2008 rate, the 2009 rate, and the 2010 rate.  And to some degree I agree with Mr. Rodger -- the biggest question here is:  When are we going to hear the evidence with respect to each of those three years?  Are we going to hear them all together in one hearing, or are we going to hear them in phases?  I'm sure the Board is familiar with -- has several proceedings where the applications were split into phases to account for the differences that were requested in each phase.

     In this case, what I would suggest is most appropriate is hearing of Phase I, which determines the 2008 rate change, for various reasons, the obvious one being that's what the Board asked Toronto Hydro to do.  And 

Toronto Hydro does want a 2008 rate change to determine its base year for next year.  I don't think there is any objection to that.

     The question then becomes: what do we do for the 2009 and 2010 aspects of the application?

     Now, we've heard from Board Staff and from the 

intervenors, and I think from Toronto Hydro, about the different consultatives that are going on.  The third-generation IRM consultative, the asset condition  proceeding, and the cost comparison proceeding.  And in our view, all three of these proceedings will produce evidence that would be relevant to the justness and reasonableness of the rates that Toronto Hydro will receive in 2009/2010, just as it will inform, presumably, the justness and reasonableness of the rates of all the other distributors in Ontario for those two years.  

In our submission, that is the reason why you would defer to a Phase II -- or a Phase II and III, possibly -- the consideration of Toronto Hydro's application for a cost-of-service-based 2009 and 2010 rates, so that when that evidence is available, presumably sometime next year, coming out of this consultatives, you would hear not only Toronto Hydro's cost-of-service application for those years, but you could compel at the inclusion of the evidence of these three other proceedings to determine whether or not Toronto Hydro's right that its cost-of-service plan is the most reasonable course of action for its rates, or whether or not the work product of these three consultatives should be superseded on Toronto Hydro just as its plan to be superseded on all the other distributors in Ontario.

     In this way, I think the Board could recognize that, yes, Toronto Hydro can apply for what it wants, but at the same time the Board does have certain objectives that it's trying to flow through its consultatives, which has the intention of creating a consistent application of rate-making across all the distributors, and hear all of those issues and all of that evidence at the same appropriate time, going forward, so that we're not stuck with the alternative, which is having a three-year rate plan for Toronto Hydro and then finding out a year from now that the cost comparison study determines that the rates are unreasonably high in comparison to the rest of the utilities and should be cut down, that the asset condition analysis in the consultative should have applied to Toronto Hydro and would have driven their rates down or would have driven their rates up, had it been considered, at the time the Board was making its decision on the 2009/2010 rates.  

These are the sorts of contingencies that we would to avoid, if possible, and because they only really need the 2008 rates first, the 2009/2010 parts of the application can wait until this evidence is ready to be heard by the Board.

     Save for any questions the Board may have, those are our submissions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

Mr. Rodger.

     REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:
     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Just first to respond to my friend Mr. Warren, whose submission seems to be that -- something about a three-year set of approvals that won't protect ratepayers' interests.

     Now, of course, protection of ratepayers is always a central issue in every case, but I believe what Mr. Warren is asking you to do is to prejudge the application at this time, before you've heard anything.


There is no reason to deny receipt and considering and hearing the evidence, based on the concern that perhaps ratepayers won't be affected.  Again, this is a matter of evidence that you're going to hear about during the proceeding.  And to ask you at the outset, establishing an Issues List, that you should make a determination that ratepayers won't be protected because we're asking for a multi-year application, that is just unreasonable and should be rejected, in my respectful submission.

     So this is not the business of the Board today, to grant Mr. Warren his relief, as he's described it.  It's premature, and the Board should not prejudge what you are about to hear at the hearing.

     For counsel for VECC, this idea that the Board should today make a decision, or at some point to split up the application into multi-phases, well, that simply gets us back to annual cost-of-service rate reviews, and for the reasons of regulatory burden and expense, that should be rejected.


I've also indicated -- and again, you'll hear this at the hearing -- that there are implementation problems that will occur in executing this plan if we kind of have a start-stop, start-stop approach to implementation.  That will cause real problems for how Toronto Hydro can do the work that it has to do.

     So, again, that won't, in all respect, get us anywhere, and just underscores the regulatory burden that we would have to face.


So those are my submissions, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.


That completes the hearing of this threshold question.  We will now take our morning break.  It is five minutes to 11:00.  We'll resume at 15 minutes past.

     --- Recess taken at 10:56 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:26 a.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  We were delayed because we were discussing the trip (laughter) and thought we'd let you know what we've decided -- that is, the Panel, -- what we should do about the trip.

     First, we really appreciate the invitation, and some of us, at least, were looking forward to it and thought it would be educational.  However, given Mr. Warren's submissions, we don't believe that the educational benefit would outbalance the risk of some perception of prejudice, so we decline, with gratitude for the invitation.

Certainly if anyone else wants to take advantage of the trip, including intervenors or Staff, we have no opinion of that, and perhaps we can do it some day when we're not sitting in a rates case.

     MR. RODGER:  I'm sure Toronto Hydro would be happy to arrange something at your convenience.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  We're going to proceed with the contested Issues.  The way we will do that is that perhaps we can hear both Pollution Probe Issues together, rather than doing a round of one, then a round of the other.  And we will begin with Pollution Probe.  Mr. Alexander.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ALEXANDER:

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My submissions are split into both, with respect to contested Issue 1 and contested Issue 2.  I don't know whether that changes your view as to whether you would like to hear them together or not, or whether you would like me to just proceed and deal with them holus bolus.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, why don't you deal with both of them at the same time?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  I'll focus first on contested Issue number 1.  And the wording of the contested Issue is:  "Are the proposed capital expenditures appropriate if, A, the proposed third transmission line proceeds, and B, the proposed third line does not proceed and the electricity needs of downtown Toronto are met by a combination of energy conservation demand management and distributed generation?"

     The heart of this Issue is that, particularly given that Toronto Hydro is seeking such a large capital budget, in the neighbourhood of $906-million, the Board needs to know if these proposed expenditures are ultimately going to make sense if the proposed third line doesn't happen.

     Basically what we're getting at is:  Is there an optimal level or mix of the capital expenditures that would change, depending on whether or not the third line occurs or not?  What we ultimately want is prudent investments, because what may end up happening is the reinforcing of the repairs of the other capital expenditures that Toronto Hydro may differ as a result of this.

     The Issue of whether or not the third line is going to proceed or not is a live issue at this time.  If you can have a look at the Pollution Probe document book, Exhibit 1, at Tab 6 is an excerpt from the filing of the Ontario Power Plan, with respect to its Integrated Power System Plan, specifically EB-2007-0707, Exhibit E, Tab 5, schedule 5.

If I could turn you to the last two pages, which is page 14 in the document book and page 31 of the filed exhibit.  And I'm taking you to line 21, the underlined portion:

"The OPA is currently considering three transmission options connecting to the Hearn station.  The three options are shown in appendix E of this exhibit."

     And it outlines the three options.

     If you turn the page, this provides a graphic of the three options that are mentioned in this section of the 

OPA IPSP, which is the east Toronto transmission line from Parkway, and two potential underwater lines, one from Niagara from the Beck station, and another one from Darlington nuclear from Bowmansville.

     There is also a fourth option that's on the table, and if I can take you to Tab 3 of Exhibit 1, the Pollution Probe document book, this is a letter dated July 13, 2007, to Councillor Paula Fletcher from David O'Brien, president and chief executive officer of Toronto Hydro.

     Looking at page 7, in the middle of the first paragraph, with the sentence that starts with "Minister Duncan": 

"Minister Duncan has made it very clear that the Government does not support the third line as an option, and we support that opinion."

     Moving down to the second paragraph, at the underlined portion:

"Toronto Hydro is first and foremost committed to seeking demand-side management and distributed generation solutions to the supply concerns."

The next sentence after that:

"This is consistent with public statements from the Minister and the Ontario Power Authority."

     The Minister has also made public statements which state that, in his belief, there is no need for the third line because Toronto has two already, and if we do conservation and distributed energy, there are lots of ways to avoid it.

     I unfortunately didn't include it with the excerpt I have in the document, but the OPA also makes mention in the same exhibit, in the same tab, in the first three pages, about comments about distributed generation and conservation as potential ways of dealing with this Issue.

     For your reference, I do have the pages here before me, but I unfortunately do not have copies for the Board, but it's pages 1 and 2 of Exhibit E, Tab 5, schedule 5, in 

EB-2007-0707.

     The point is, as the OPA itself makes clear, that the issue of conservation and distributed generation is an important consideration, and may, at the end of the day, mean that once all of this is considered, that the third line is not required.

     The obvious question that comes as a result of it is, since we don't know yet if the third line is going to be required, in light of aggressive conservation and distribution generation, we need to be able to ask the questions and be able to look at the capital expenditures and be able to determine if there are changes that would need to be done or if there would need -- depending on what's actually happened in the two scenarios.

     The point that we want is we want to be able to examine these Issues as part of the hearing. 

Subject to any questions, those are my submissions on the contested Issue number 1.  I'll move on to contested Issue number 2.

     Contested Issue number 2, just to read it for the record, is:

"Could Toronto Hydro meet its customers' electricity service needs at a lower cost by implementing more aggressive conservation demand management and distributed generation programs, targets and budgets?"

     The bottom line for this Issue is, in accordance with the Board's overarching legislative mandate:  Is aggressive 

CDM and distribution generation a more cost-effective way to meet Toronto's electricity service needs?  That's the bottom line, and that's what we want to get at.

     If I can take you into the Pollution Probe document book, Exhibit 1, Tab 1, this is an excerpt from the Ontario 

Energy Board Act 1998, specifically, Section 1.1 -- sorry, 

1(1), with respect to the Board objectives on electricity, and I bring the Board's attention to number 1 and number 2:

"To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service."

      And, number 2:

"To promote economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness in the generation, transmission, distribution, sale, and demand management of electricity, and to facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry."

     One of the issues that is obviously of concern to 

Pollution Probe is what it sees as a very heavily weighted side towards the supply-side, as shown by the capital budget, as I discussed previously with respect to Tab 5 and the 906 million, versus CDM spending, which is only about a total spending of $22-million, which I noted previously at Tab 4.

     The issue of concern to Pollution Probe is:  This strongly suggests that there may be the potential for 

Toronto Hydro to meet customers' needs at a lower cost by doing more conservation demand management and distributed generation.  And this is part of the Issue that we want to be able to explore in the Issue and make sure that we can ask questions about.

     If I can take you back to Tab 3 of Exhibit 1, which, again, is that letter from the president of Toronto Hydro to Councillor Paula Fletcher.  I've already highlighted two sections on the first page of that letter and I'd like to take you to the second page of that letter.

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1The second paragraph, where the marking begins:

"The preferred solution is DSM and other conservation options, and we are committed to full public discussion about this.  I want to reiterate that we are not pursuing any options other than DSM and other conservation measures.  You have my personal commitment that conservation will always be our priority as a first line of defence against the infrastructure issues we face."

     Pollution Probe submits that one of the appropriate places to have that public discussion is here before the Board.  And this is why we want this on the Issues List, so that way we can ask these questions to Toronto Hydro, as part of the interrogatory process, do cross-examinations, and make submissions to you as to what is the most cost-effective solution in this.

     If I can take you to -- one of the issues that obviously arises is:  What has the Board said, in terms of the CDM that it can get from ratepayers through Board approval?


If I can take you to Tab 2 of Exhibit 1, the Pollution Probe document book, this is the report of the Board on the regulatory framework for conservation and demand management by Ontario electricity distributors in 2007 and beyond, dated March 2nd, 2007, with Board file number EB-2006-0266.

     And if I can take you to the last page at that tab, which is page 6 of the document book, at the two bolded sections that are marked for your reference:

"The Board will continue to receive applications for funding through distribution rates for programs designed to address local reliability or system-improvement situations.  As funding from the OPA becomes available for other types of programs, the Board expects that distributors will apply to the OPA for funding.  However, where funding is not available from the OPA at the time of application, distributors may apply to the Board for funding through distribution rates."

     So the Board has already explicitly said that one of the options that is available to utilities is that electric utilities can seek OEB approval, Board approval, to raise their rates to finance conservation programs.

     And this is also consistent with the comment in the letter at Tab 7 from the president of Toronto Hydro to Councillor Paula Fletcher.  On the first page of that letter, at page 7 --

     MR. RODGER:  It's Tab 3.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Oh, sorry, Tab 3.  My friend has reminded me it's Tab 3, page 7 of the document book, the second full paragraph at the end, the last sentence:

"Toronto Hydro will continue to seek solutions to this issue through prudent conservation measures, using the tools that have been made available to us by the provincial government."

     And we would submit that this is one of the tools that is available in order to determine what is the best way in order to deal with this, in order to make sure that the most cost-effective solutions are put forward and are being adopted in accordance with the Board's mandate.

     The reason why this is so important is, from Pollution Probe's perspective, we need to have the evidence and the interrogatories and the cross-examinations to make submissions to you, because what we expect what the evidence will show is that more conservation demand management and distributed generation will ultimately lower the customer's costs by reducing the need for some of Toronto Hydro's proposed distribution infrastructure spending, by reducing the costs for Hydro One's transmission spending, or for new high-cost nuclear generation.

     And it's important to keep in mind that when all of these evaluations are done, they're done in accordance with the TRC test.  So we don't just look at the benefits that accrue as a result of Toronto Hydro having lower costs; it's the entire system as a result.  And that's why we also need to look at the costs of generation and the costs of distribution with respect to Hydro One as well.

     The other issue with respect to this is: conservation demand management and distributed generation are also ways -- are also alternative options to help increase the reliability of the Toronto Hydro system.  So these are the reasons why we want this Issue on the Issues List, so that way we can ask the appropriate questions.


Subject to any questions, those are my submissions on the second contested Issue.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Alexander.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Alexander, just to clarify for me.  A couple of times you mentioned -- you did refer to asking questions of Toronto Hydro through interrogatories, cross-examination.


Are you free to tell me whether your client contemplates filing evidence?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Without making it binding, our current plan is not to file evidence.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

     MS. NOWINA:  Are there any parties who wish to support Pollution Probe's proposal?  All right.


Board Staff -- sorry.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I was wondering if I could just ask a clarifying question --

     MS. NOWINA:  Sure.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  -- from Mr. Alexander's submissions.

     At Tab 2 in your material, the further report of the Board, and at page 6 you talk about -- you've highlighted a couple of paragraphs about OPA funding.


Are you saying that you want to explore funding through rates or CDM programs that's not available from the OPA?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  To answer --

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Alexander.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  -- the question, what Pollution Probe wants to ultimately see is, can more cost-effective CDM and distribution generation be done?  And that can be financed from either the OPA or the Energy Board through distribution rates.

     We don't care ultimately where it comes from.  But one option is obviously, if the OPA is not providing funding for it, is to do it through distribution rates.

     The fundamental question for us is:  Can more cost-effective distribution -- sorry, can more cost-effective CDM and distributed generation be done?  That's the fundamental issue for us.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, which may involve a ratepayer funding?  Which may involve?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  Very well may involve ratepayer funding.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Lea?

     MS. LEA:  We have no submissions on the Issue.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Rodger?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:
     MR. RODGER:  Thank you.


Regarding Pollution Probe's first proposed Issue dealing with the so-called third point of supply, this general topic is obviously of great interest to Toronto Hydro.

On the letter to Councillor Fletcher that my friend referred to, the very final paragraph opens with the sentence from Mr. O'Brien:

"I know that you understand that we must find a solution to the supply constraints to Toronto as soon as possible."

     So no one is saying it's not a key issue.  What we are saying, Madam Chair, is that it's not an issue of relevance for this proceeding.  There is not a penny of capital expenditures in any test year that relate to this third point of supply, whether it's the line in Toronto or the other options that my friend referred to.

     This will be a Hydro One initiative that links Hydro One infrastructure with other Hydro One infrastructure, and it's a matter that will be dealt with in the Integrated Power System Plan.  So our view is it just simply is not relevant to the matters before the Board.

     Now, on the second Issue, on CDM, let me say at the outset that we're not opposing this Issue because somehow we want to restrict any parties or the Board to explore CDM in our application.  The parties are free to explore that and ask questions and test the evidence as they see fit.

We're opposing the Issue because -- and also, I think my friends will acknowledge that when it comes to CDM there is no question about Toronto Hydro's commitment.  When you look at the innovative leadership that it's made with programs like Peak Saver, with the Summer Challenge, we're installing half of the entire provincial target for Smart  Meters, there is no question that Toronto Hydro is committed to this.  But, again, we believe that it's the wrong forum.  It's not in this hearing that we should be having this broader discussion that my friend just described:  Is there more cost-effective CDM out there anywhere?

     This is really the bailiwick now of the OPA.  And the report that my friend referred to, the report of the Board on conservation demand management for 2007 and beyond, the March 2, 2007, report -- if you just flip over one page from page 7, part of the conclusions my friend read, at the very top it says that:

"The Board believes that this funding framework recognizes the OPA's primary responsibility for funding CDM programs in the province and encourages participation in the OPA's CDM processes, while providing CDM funding, continuity and preventing the cross-subsidization of one distributor’s ratepayers by the ratepayers of another."

     So, yes, my friend is right; LDCs are not entirely barred from bringing forward an application.  But this really is another forum.  CDM will also be dealt with in the IPSP.  And in any event, the CDM that I believe my friends are referring to, that will do nothing to address kind of the aging plant or the reliability concerns that Toronto Hydro has to deal with in its capital plan, concerns about failing wires underground.  CDM is not going to help that.

     I would also say that because the OPA is coming up with the program design, it may very well be -- and I would suggest it is likely -- that over the three years that this approval will cover, there could be many more CDM programs that Toronto Hydro will embrace, but, again, that that will be through another process.

     So our concern is that if my friend's Issue was added to this proceeding, it has the potential for significantly expanding the scope of this proceeding to perhaps a very -- although I'm sure interesting, but wide-ranging debate on what else possibly could be done.  

In our view, that is not the role of this application.  

There are other processes and other forums where this will be explored, and it would be inappropriate to expand the scope of the hearing to accommodate Pollution Probe's Issues.  

On that basis, that's why we're opposing it, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rodger, on the first question you mention, that there were no funds in this proposal to deal with the third supply into Toronto --

     MR. RODGER:  That's correct.

     MS. NOWINA:  Does that mean that Toronto Hydro doesn't expect that even if Hydro One were to decide to go ahead and build that third supply, that there would be any cost to Toronto?

     MR. RODGER:  I think what Toronto Hydro is saying is that the whole issue of the third line is independent of what you have in this application before the Board.  It's just independent.

These costs we will incur regardless of the third line or not.  Could there be additional costs if the third line is approved?  I think the answer is yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Rodger, in any capital expenditure plan, I guess one would have to investigate what are the assumptions that underpin that plan; right?  I take it you would not object to the kind of questions that would provide that information to the Board Panel, as to what are the assumptions that underpin this plan.

     So I don't think you would object to that.

     MR. RODGER:  That's correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So, Mr. Alexander, in addition to asking those questions -- what are the assumptions that underpin that plan -- what else would you need from the contested Issue No. 1?  Do you want any scenario-building? 

You know, should the third line go ahead?  I mean, I just don't know.  Help me.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  To answer your question, Member Vlahos, from Pollution Probe's perspective, what we want to be able to do is, we want to be able to test through the evidence whether or not the level or the mix makes sense if the plan doesn’t go through.  We would have to see whether or not there would have to be changes as a result of it.  Basically, what we want to be able to do is to be able to ask the questions to be able to determine:  Are the expenditures prudent, given whether or not this third line is going to happen?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Rodger, Mr. Alexander wants to test the assumptions that underpin that plan.  What is the concern?

     MR. RODGER:  That would be fine.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So testing the assumptions, through cross-examination -- sorry, IRs, interrogatories and cross-examination and submissions.

     MR. RODGER:  I just think perhaps it changes the nature of what the Issue is that is on the Issues List.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I wasn't sure exactly what the Issue was, the way it was phrased.

     MR. ALEXANDER:  That would be our intended course, depending on, of course, what happens in the course of the proceeding.

     MS. NOWINA:  And that's not subsumed in another Issue?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  If the Board believes that either of the contested Issues or both the contested Issues are subsumed in another Issue on the Issues List, that is fine with us.

     Our reading of the Issues List left it a little unclear for some of those Issues, which is why we put it on the contested Issues List, and are making submissions to you today.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Rodger, on the Issue –- there is a number that talks about the capital expenditures.  Usually with an issue of capital expenditures, the appropriateness of or prudence of testing the assumptions is part of that Issue, so I would take that Issue -- contested number 1 -- to be nothing more than testing the assumptions.

     So on that basis, do we have to put it on anywhere, 

Mr. Alexander?

     MR. ALEXANDER:  If that's the Board understanding, we would be happy with that.

     MR. RODGER:  That's fine.  I would just, I think, proceed that it is kind of questioning those assumptions are captured within Issue number 5, rate base.

MS. NOWINA:  We haven't heard submissions from other parties opposing the Pollution Probe proposal.  Does anyone wish to make a submission?  Mr. Warren?

     MR. WARREN:  We will agree with Toronto Hydro's position on these matters, particularly with respect to the second contested Issue.  It's an implicit invitation for the Board to find itself in a contest with the OPA, and we think the Board should resist that temptation, that the direction is that the OPA will do the funding, and until such time as there has been a determination that that's not adequate, the Board should resist the implicit invitation to get into an argument about who is doing what over what.  We support Toronto Hydro's position.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Anyone else?  Mr. Alexander, 

do you wish to make any reply?


SUBMISSIONS IN REPLY BY MR. ALEXANDER:

     MR. ALEXANDER:  I believe my reply will be brief on these points.

     I think fundamentally for us, with respect to contested Issue 1, my friend Mr. Rodger has made comments about, a penny -- if I have the words right -- that a penny doesn't relate to the third point of supply, and the evidence may show that, but we need to be able to ask those questions at the end of the day.  That's what we want to be able to do.  And we need to test the claim through the appropriate processes in the proceeding.  And that would also apply to contested Issue number 2.

     We do want to clarify, though, the role of the OPA and the role of the Board with respect to CDM specifically.  And it's a fundamental issue of the Board and the Board's mandate to test whether or not the expenditures are appropriate, and is enough CDM being done.  Whoever pays for it is a different issue, but fundamentally, the Board is supposed to look at the issues; it's not just simply that the OPA has complete holus bolus authority over it.

In addition, at Tab 2 of Exhibit 1, the document book for Issues Day, at the report of the Board referenced earlier, which was in EB-2006-0266, without going through it in detail, the Board has made it very clear that funding is both through the OPA and distribution rates.  Looking at both page 5 and page 6, it's very clear -- this is page 5 of the document book, sorry -- under "OEB funding", the marked section:

"The Board is mindful, however, that to successfully meet the government's CDM targets, continued funding of CDM activities through distribution rates may be necessary, and the continued availability of this funding stream is not precluded by the directive or otherwise."

     And going back to page 6, I've already highlighted the two other Issues here with respect to other Issues where the Board may decide that funding through distribution rates is appropriate, particularly with respect to reliability and system improvement, which some of our -- which CDM and distributed generation, we submit, will end up contributing towards, so it's a valid Issue on that front.

     And the second Issue is whether or not the funding is available from the OPA.  So if the funding is not available from the OPA, or they're not providing it, it's got to come from somewhere, and that would probably mean distribution rates.

     So, subject to any questions, those are my reply submissions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Alexander.  And that completes the submissions on contested Issues 1 and 2.


Moving to contested Issue number 3, from Schools.  Mr. DeVellis, you're a proponent of that?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:
     MR. DeVELLIS:  The reason that the School Energy Coalition has asked that this Issue be put on the List is that we would like to be able to explain to our client why it is that a school in Toronto pays so much more for electricity distribution than a school in neighbouring municipalities, such as, for example, the City of Hamilton.

     So far we haven't been able to explain that, but we think our client deserves a reasonable answer, and if there isn't one, then a plan to see that customers in similar circumstances pay similar rates for electricity.


And here I'll echo the comments I made earlier in respect of the threshold issue, and that is that the goal of regulation should be to mimic the results of a competitive market.


That is not achieved by only having utilities come in and present their cost information year after year, to be examined in isolation from other utilities doing similar work in similar circumstances.

It is achieved by insisting, as a competitive market would, that sellers providing a similar service in a similar market do so at reasonably comparable prices.


What we'd like to do is put to the company our comparative distributor rate information, which shows distribution rates for customers in various locations, and ask the company to explain the disparity; in particular, why its rates are higher than other neighbouring municipalities, and, if they can't, to come up with a plan to bring their rates into line.


And so that is our goal, in bringing this Issue forward, to have the Board look at Toronto Hydro's application in context with rates charged by other distributors, and to begin to have distributors be accountable for higher prices, which is what, I would argue, ordinary consumers would do when considering whether rates they pay are just and reasonable.

     Subject to any questions, those are our submissions.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, a couple of questions.  You want to be able to show your client why a school in Toronto, served by Toronto Hydro, pays more than a school in Hamilton.  Isn't that your job, or a consultant's job, as opposed to Toronto Hydro?


Toronto Hydro -- the information from Horizon, whatever the proper name is, Hamilton Hydro.  How would they get that information?  They're not a party to this proceeding.  Hamilton is not.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I mean, our goal in looking at this Issue is to address the Issue in front of the Board from the perspective of the consumer and ask -- be able to ask Toronto Hydro to justify why its rates, and we're here to set just and reasonable rates for Toronto Hydro.


And that, in our view, that doesn't only mean looking at Toronto Hydro's costs.  It also means looking at the Issue from the perspective of the consumer.  And from the consumer's perspective, we see higher prices for Toronto Hydro, and we don't know why, and we'd like to ask Toronto Hydro why.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And, sorry, how would Toronto Hydro be able to answer that unless they have the data also from the comparator utility?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, and our answer to that is:  We would put the price comparisons to Toronto Hydro and ask that they generate -- I mean, our position is that it's Toronto Hydro's obligation to demonstrate that its rates are just and reasonable, not just its costs, and part of how to do that is to justify why its prices are different from the neighbouring utilities'.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, sir.

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Lea?

     SUBMISSIONS BY MS. LEA:
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.


I would ask Mr. DeVellis in his reply perhaps to address why this Issue is not actually premature, in the same way that the threshold issue questioned the prematurity of Toronto Hydro's 2009 and 2010 evidence.

     The Board does have a process ongoing in which we are attempting to create some comparisons.  They are cost comparisons, as far as I understand it, as opposed to rate comparisons.  But I wonder whether this Issue is tied into the threshold issue.


If the Board were to decide to hear only the rates -- only the evidence relating to 2008, for example, would it not be better to wait for the results of the Board's initiative in utility comparison, rather than attempt to litigate Toronto Hydro's portion of that in this hearing?


Conversely, if the Board decided to hear the evidence for 2009 and 2010, perhaps there is some merit, if Toronto Hydro takes itself out by having rates for three years -- takes itself out of the comparison project, if I can put it that way.  There may be a need to use some kind of comparator.

     However, I'm not sure that we know the answer to those questions yet.  And I ask whether the proposal to do it in this case at this time is not premature.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis can return to that in his reply after we hear the other submissions.

     MS. LEA:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  Submissions supporting Schools' position.  Mr. Rodger?

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:
     MR. RODGER:  Thank you.


If we just first look to the specific Issue as it was proposed, it reads:

"Are Toronto Hydro's distribution rates just and reasonable when compared to other similarly-situated distributors in the province?  If not, should Toronto Hydro be ordered to develop a plan to bring its distribution rates in line with similarly-situated distributors?"

     So that's the Issue that's been put before you.

     We interpreted this as a request from Schools to raise the question whether the Board should utilize benchmarking to establish rates, and to us the Issue involves implying a new basis to determine just and reasonable rates.


Things like the capital plan and the employee issues, those are seemingly irrelevant under this Issue.  The only thing that matters is, you find an LDC that's a comparator, and you simply increase or decrease rates from what's being asked for to match this cohort.

     We believe that distribution rates -- comparing distribution rates with Toronto Hydro's proposed rates is not an appropriate comparator for the Board to use in establishing just and reasonable rates in this case, or any other case, for that matter.  And to explore this Issue at this hearing would not be a productive exercise.

     The Board will be aware, and you've heard about it earlier, that it has already established a stakeholdering process on benchmarking, EB-2006-0268.  Toronto Hydro is involved in this process, Schools is involved in this process, and they're debating these issues at the moment.

     Toronto Hydro's gone on record in the past in saying there may very well be useful information that can be derived from this on the concept of benchmarking for the future, but I think as we all know, there are serious concerns about the data.  LDCs collect data differently.  There are concerns about comparability.  And again, this rate case is not the forum to duplicate or replicate what's going on elsewhere in another OEB process.


So in our view, it would be a distraction from the serious issues that are before this Board in this application to venture down a new road on benchmarking, given what the Board's already got in place.

My suggestion to my friend is, if his clients really want to understand this, then they can participate directly in the OEB's comparator and cohorts review.  It's not a private process.  They can get all the information, and they can kind of get a flavour of the extent of the issues, the challenging issues that we face.  So for these reasons we oppose this Issue.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

Other parties opposed to the Issue?  Mr. DeVellis, your reply?

     SUBMISSIONS IN REPLY BY MR. DeVELLIS:

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'll reply to 

Ms. Lea's concern first.  And our answer is that, first of all, it may not be premature, because Toronto Hydro's application may -- if the Board approves its application to have its rates set for three years prospectively, then it will effectively have taken itself out of the benchmarking exercise, and then whatever happens in the benchmarking exercise will not apply to Toronto Hydro in any event.

     So, yes, it would be preferable from our point of view, for that reason alone, to be only considering one year at this time.  But that doesn't necessarily answer the Issue or obviate the need for this Issue on the Issues List, because it's not clear how the benchmarking exercise will translate into rates once it's complete.

     We'd like to be able to probe that Issue at this time, and if necessary ask for Toronto Hydro to come up with a plan to get its rates in line with neighbouring utilities.

     I just have one brief reply to Mr. Rodger's submissions, and that is that he seemed to imply that there may be other reasons why Toronto Hydro's rates are different from other utilities.  If that's the case, then that's what will come out in the evidence.  That's what we'd like to ask questions about.  If Toronto Hydro has a reason why its rates are higher than Hamilton's, for example, then they'll bring that forward.  If they don't have a reason, then we'd like to ask the Board to ask Toronto Hydro to come up with a plan to bring its rates in line.

Those are our reply submissions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis, so your interest is in comparing rates, not in looking at the benchmarking of costs that underlie Toronto Hydro's revenue requirement; is that how I understand your submission?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  That's correct.  We'd like to make submissions to the Board to look at this Issue from the perspective of a customer.  And a customer will look at Toronto Hydro's rates in comparison to the rates of other utilities that are in similar circumstances to Toronto Hydro.

     It may be that Toronto Hydro has reasons why its cost structure is different from, for example, Hamilton.  If those reasons are acceptable to the Board, then that's fine, but if they're not acceptable to the Board, then we would ask that the Board ask Toronto Hydro to come up with a plan to bring its rates in line.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  That completes our submissions on that question.  Are there any other matters for the Panel to consider?

     MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair --

     Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have no further submissions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  We will adjourn, then, and we will try to get our Decision to you as quickly as possible, both regarding the threshold matter and the contested 

Issues.

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:11 p.m.
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